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This recommendation for Administrative Civil Liability assesses penalties for effluent violations of Sonoma Valley County Sanitation District’s (Discharger’s) NPDES permit, Order No. 98-111, during the period between November 1, 1998 and December 31, 1999.  All effluent violations identified are subject to a penalty under Section 13385(c) of the California Water Code.  From November 1, 1998 through December 31, 1999, the Discharger violated effluent limitations in its NPDES permit on 82 days in the eight months of discharge.  Between November 1998 through December 1999 there were fourteen (14) moving median coliform, thirteen (13) daily maximum coliform, twelve (12) pH, seven (7) chlorine residual, four (4) settleable solids, three (3) zinc, and twenty-nine (29) oil and grease violations.





A total of 374 million gallons of inadequately treated water was discharged at the outfall into Schell Slough, a tributary of San Pablo Bay, between November 1, 1998 and December 31, 1999.  In addition, during the time period of this Complaint, sewer system overflows totaling an estimated 370,500 gallons of untreated wastewater discharged to surface areas with an undetermined amount reaching nearby creeks.  These significant� sewer overflows occurred on nine (9) days between November 1, 1998 and December 31, 1999. An unknown percentage of this untreated wastewater was discharged to waters of the State.  In November 1998, there were two sewer system overflow events into Fryer Creek: a 1,000-gallon overflow on November 22 and a 3,000-gallon overflow on November 30, 1998.  In 1999, there were a series of overflows during a 4-day period between February 6 and 9, 1999 that amounted to approximately 355,680 gallons of overflow.  The Regional Board sent a Notice of Violation (NOV) to the Discharger for the February overflows on April 29, 1999.  After the 355,680 gallons of overflow in February 1999, the Discharger reported three additional significant sewer system overflows in 1999. These overflows occurred on April 9, 1999, June 17, 1999, and September 11, 1999.  The quantities of these overflows were 2,400, 5,400, and 3,000, respectively.  





The nature of the above releases poses a risk to beneficial uses, public health, and the aquatic biota of the creeks to which the overflows ran as well as Schell Slough and San Pablo Bay.  Based on the following analysis and rationale, I recommend that the Board impose Administrative Civil Liability of $87,900.  This amount recovers estimated economic benefits of $82,900 and staff costs of $5,000.  I also recommend we allow submittal of a proposal for a supplemental environmental project or pollution prevention project totaling not more than $82,900 or a proposal to implement a zinc source identification and reduction study and install automated compound-loop chlorination and dechlorination equipment in lieu of the administrative civil liability. 





BACKGROUND





The Sonoma Valley County Sanitation District (Discharger) owns and operates the municipal wastewater treatment plant located in Sonoma.  The Sonoma County Board of Supervisors transferred operating authority for the treatment plant from the Sonoma Public Works Department to the Sonoma County Water Agency, located in Santa Rosa, on January 1, 1995.  The plant treats domestic and light commercial wastewater collected from the cities and unincorporated areas of Sonoma, Glen Ellen, Boyes Hot Springs, and Agua Caliente to a secondary treatment level.  The treated effluent is discharged to Schell Slough during the wet weather season from November 1 through April 30 and is reclaimed for agricultural use during the remainder of the year.  Upon request, the Discharger may be allowed to discharge beyond April 30 if circumstances warrant.  The Discharger requested a discharge time extension to Schell Slough in order to perform maintenance and repair work on one of its effluent storage reservoirs.  





The treatment plant has an average dry weather flow design capacity of 3.0 million gallons per day (mgd) and can treat up to 12.0 mgd during the wet weather flow period.  Influent flows higher than 12.0 mgd are bypassed to the 35 million gallon equalization basins.  Treatment consists of screening followed by extended aeration activated sludge treatment, secondary sedimentation, disinfection, and dechlorination.  Average wet weather season discharge for 1998 through 1999 was 4.9 mgd.  During the dry weather season, disinfected effluent is routed to several storage reservoirs, from which it is pumped to various water reclamation users.  The Discharger has a separate permit, Order No. 92-067, for its water reclamation requirements.  For the applicable time period of this Complaint, the storage reservoirs began receiving treated effluent on April 30, 1999.  This is also the date when discharge to Schell Slough ceased. 














NPDES PERMIT PROHIBITIONS AND EFFLUENT LIMITATIONS VIOLATED 





Prohibitions and effluent limitations have been established in the Discharger’s NPDES permit, Order No. 98-111, under Discharge Prohibitions, Section A, and Effluent Limitations, Section B.  The applicable portions of this section of the permit are as follows: 





		“A.	DISCHARGE PROHIBITIONS


…


	2.	The bypass or overflow of untreated or partially treated wastewater to waters of the State, either at the treatment plant or from the collection system or pump stations tributary to the treatment plant, is prohibited except as allowed by Standard Provision A.12.


…


B.	EFFLUENT LIMITATIONS





1.	The term "effluent" in the following limitations means the fully treated wastewater effluent from the discharger's wastewater treatment facility, as discharged to the Schell Slough. The effluent discharged to the Schell Slough during the wet weather period shall not exceed the following limits:


		


		Conventional Pollutants Effluent Limitations


Constituent�
Units�
Monthly Average�
Weekly Average�
Daily Maximum�
Instantaneous Maximum�
�
Settleable Matter�
ml/L-hr�
0.1�
�
�
0.2�
�
Oil & Grease�
mg/L�
10�
�
20�
�
�
Chlorine Residual1�
mg/L�
--�
--�
--�
0.0�
�
1  Requirement defined as below the limit of detection in standard test methods defined in the 18th edition of Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater.  





2.	The pH of the discharge shall not exceed 8.5 nor be less than 6.5.





3.	Coliform Bacteria:  The treated wastewater, at some point in the treatment process prior to discharge, shall meet the following limits of bacteriological quality:





a. The moving median value for the MPN of total coliform bacteria in any seven consecutive samples shall not exceed 23 MPN/100 mL; and


b. Any single sample shall not exceed 240 MPN/100 mL.


….


5.	Acute Toxicity:  Representative samples of the effluent shall meet the following limits for acute toxicity: (see Provisions of this Order for more information)





The survival of organisms in undiluted effluent shall be an eleven (11) sample median value of not less than 90 percent survival, and an eleven (11) sample 90 percentile value of not less than 70 percent survival. The eleven sample median and 90th percentile effluent limitations are defined as follows:





	11 sample median: Any bioassay test showing survival of 90 percent or greater is not a violation of this limit.  A bioassay test showing survival of less than 90 percent represents a violation of this effluent limit, if five or more of the past ten or less bioassay tests show less than 90 percent survival.





	90th percentile: A bioassay test showing survival of less than 70 percent represents a violation of this effluent limit if one or more of the past ten or less bioassay tests show less than 70 percent survival.


….


7.a.	Toxic Substances Effluent Limitations:  The discharge of effluent containing constituents in excess of the following limitations is prohibited [a]:





Constituent�
Units�
Daily Average [b]�
Monthly Average [b]�
�
Zinc [d]�
(g/L�
58�
�
�



Footnotes (apply to both 7.a. and 7.b.):


a.	All analyses shall be performed using current USEPA Methods, as specified in USEPA Water/Wastewater Methods (EPA�600 Series), except that mercury analyses may be performed using USEPA Method 1631.  Metal limits are expressed as total recoverable metals.


b.	Limits apply to the average concentration of all samples collected during the averaging period (Daily � 24-hour period; Monthly � Calendar month).


…


Effluent limitation may be met as a 4-day average. If compliance is to be determined based on a 4-day average, then concentrations of four 24-hour composite samples shall be reported, as well as the average of four.”





ENFORCEMENT CONSIDERATIONS





Section 13385(e) of the California Water Code requires the Board to consider several factors when issuing Administrative Civil Liability (ACL).  These include the nature, circumstances, extent and gravity of the violations, and, with respect to the violator, the ability to pay, degree of culpability, prior history of violations, economic benefit or savings, and other factors justice may require.  The law was amended effective January 1, 2000.  Those changes apply to violations that occur on or after that date.  The Discharger has violations to its permit both before and after that date. Because the method of assessing penalties for violations prior to January 1, 2000 differ from those assessed after that date, two Complaints have been sent to the Discharger, one for violations that occurred before January 1, 2000 and one for violations that occurred after January 1, 2000. This Complaint concerns the violations that occurred before January 1, 2000. 





Factors that the Board may consider in determining the amount of the liability are described below.  For violations that occurred prior to January 1, 2000, the Regional Board is authorized, but not required, to impose Administrative Liability.  In determining the amount of that liability, the Regional Board is required to take into account the following factors: 


Nature of the violations, 


Circumstances, extent and gravity of the violations, 


Degree of culpability, 


Prior history of violations, 


Economic benefit or savings, 


Other factors justice may require, and 


Ability to pay.





Factors for Consideration





1.	Nature of the Violations





From November 1998 to December 31, 1999, there were eighty-two (82) violations that consisted of fourteen (14) moving median coliform, thirteen (13) daily maximum coliform, twelve (12) pH, seven (7) chlorine residual, four (4) settleable matter, three (3) zinc, and twenty-nine (29) oil and grease exceedances.  These violations are shown in the following table along with dates, reported values, and estimated volumes released.





Table 1. Sonoma VCSD Violations from November 1, 1998 through December 31, 1999


Vln #�
Parameter�
Permit Limit�
Date �
Reported Value�
Volume (MG)�
Comment�
�
1�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
11/1/98�
1,600 MPN/100 ml�
1.77�
�
�
2�
pH�
6.5�
11/4/98�
6.4�
--�
�
�
3�
Zinc (d average)�
58 μg/L�
11/6/98�
76 μg/L�
5.92�
Significant*�
�
4�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
11/15/98�
920 MPN/100 ml�
2.99�
�
�
5�
Settleable Solids�
<0.2 ml/L/hr�
11/16/98�
0.3 ml/L/hr�
4.11�
�
�
6�
Settleable Solids�
<0.2 ml/L/hr�
11/17/98�
1.2 ml/L/hr�
2.94�
Significant*�
�
7�
Settleable Solids�
<0.2 ml/L/hr�
11/19/98�
1.2 ml/L/hr�
2.78�
Significant*�
�
8�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
11/19/98�
540 MPN/100 ml�
--�
�
�
9�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
11/22/98�
350 MPN/100 ml�
3.29�
�
�
10�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
11/23/98�
1,600 MPN/100 ml�
1.0�
�
�
11�
Settleable Solids�
<0.2 ml/L/hr�
11/24/98�
1.2 ml/L/hr�
4.63�
Significant*�
�
12�
pH�
6.5�
11/24/98�
6.4�
--�
�
�
13�
pH�
6.5�
11/25/98�
6.3�
--�
�
�
14�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
11/28/98�
350 MPN/100 ml�
3.11�
�
�
15�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
11/29/98�
920 MPN/100 ml�
5.77�
�
�
16�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
11/30/98�
340 MPN/100 ml�
8.06�
�
�
17�
pH�
6.5�
12/6/98�
6.2�
--�
�
�
18�
pH�
6.5�
12/7/98�
6.4�
--�
�
�
19�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
12/9/98�
350 MPN/100 ml�
3.94�
�
�
20�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
12/13/98�
350 MPN/100 ml�
3.89�
�
�
34�
Coliform (median)�
23 MPN/100 ml�
11/19/98-12/2/98�
27-170 MPN/100 ml�
46.33�
14 days�
�
35�
pH�
6.5�
12/29/98�
6.2�
--�
�
�
36�
Chlorine Residual�
0.0 mg/L�
1/19/99�
0.3 mg/L�
--�
�
�
37�
pH�
6.5�
1/24/99�
6.1�
--�
�
�
38�
Chlorine Residual�
0.0 mg/L�
1/24/99�
0.6 mg/L�
--�
�
�
39�
Oil & Grease (max)�
20 mg/L�
2/3/99�
70 mg/L�
4.37�
�
�
40�
Chlorine Residual�
0.0 mg/L�
2/6/99�
0.6 mg/L�
--�
�
�
41�
pH�
6.5�
2/7/99�
6.3�
--�
�
�
42�
Chlorine Residual�
0.0 mg/L�
2/14/99�
0.3 mg/L�
--�
�
�
70�
Oil & Grease (avg)�
10 mg/L�
2/28/99�
70 mg/L�
243�
28 days�
�
71�
Chlorine Residual�
0.0 mg/L�
3/2/99�
0.6 mg/L�
--�
�
�
72�
Chlorine Residual�
0.0 mg/L�
3/11/99�
4.4 mg/L�
--�
�
�
73�
Chlorine Residual�
0.0 mg/L�
4/13/99�
0.2 mg/L�
--�
�
�
74�
Zinc (d average)�
58 μg/L�
11/8/99�
65 μg/L�
4.26�
�
�
75�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
11/8/99�
300 MPN/100 ml�
--�
�
�
76�
Zinc (d average)�
58 μg/L�
11/15/99�
68 μg/L�
2.95�
�
�
77�
pH (from bioassay)�
6.5�
11/16/99�
6.3�
3.47�
�
�
78�
pH (from bioassay)�
6.5�
11/17/99�
5.6�
2.9�
�
�
79�
pH (from bioassay)�
6.5�
11/18/99�
6.1�
3.0�
�
�
80�
pH (from bioassay)�
6.5�
11/19/99�
6.0�
4.2�
�
�
81�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
11/24/99�
1600 MPN/100 ml�
2.5�
�
�
82�
Coliform (d max)�
240 MPN/100 ml�
12/23/99�
500 MPN/100 ml�
2.84�
�
�
82 = Total # violations�
Total Volume released = 374 million gallons�
�
* Based upon Category I or Category II violations as defined in 40 CFR Section 123.45, Appendix A.





Four (4) of the above eighty-two (82) violations in 1998-99 are either Category I or Category II violations as defined in 40 CFR Section 123.45, Appendix A, by exceeding the limit by 40% or 20%, respectively.  The 28 days of violations for the monthly average oil and grease limit of 10 mg/L was from a single monthly sample on February 3, 1999 of 70 mg/L.   Under USEPA guidance in determining violations for monthly average limits for ACLs, each day in the month is counted as a violation.  The discharger had the opportunity to resample the remaining 25 days in February (to calculate a more representative average) and did not do so.  The total amount of inadequately treated wastewater was 374 million gallons during the eight months of discharge from November 1, 1998 to December 31, 1999.  





From November 1, 1998 through December 31, 1999, the Discharger violated the discharge prohibition that prohibits bypass or overflow of untreated or partially treated wastewater to waters of the State on nine (9) days.  The 9 significant sewer system overflow events, which totaled 370,500 gallons, occurred on the following dates:  





				Table 2.  Sewer System Overflows


Date�
Gallons of overflow�
�
November 22, 1998�
1,000 �
�
November 30, 1998�
3,000 �
�
February 6 through 9, 1999�
355,700�
�
April 9, 1999�
2,400�
�
June 17, 1999�
5,400�
�
September 11, 1999�
3,000�
�
TOTAL gallons�
370,500 gallons�
�



2.	Effects on Water Quality





The water quality effects of the effluent limit violations listed in Tables 1 and 2 are of concern because of the shallow water nature of the discharge point.  The receiving waters at the dead-end tidal Schell Slough have limited dilution capability even in winter.  This type of limited-dilution discharge situation can be the most detrimental to the aquatic environment.  The Discharger’s permit, Order No. 98-111, grants a seasonally-restricted discharge to the shallow water, dead-end tidal Schell Slough.  This exemption from the Basin Plan’s shallow-water discharge prohibition was granted because the Discharger had previously demonstrated that acceptable source control plans were in place, which is a prerequisite to allowing a shallow-water discharge exemption.  Continued exemption from this prohibition may be questionable in the future if violations of this frequency and magnitude continue to occur.





Zinc


The Discharger’s exceedance of their zinc limit appears to begin in late 1998.  Three (3) exceedances of the zinc limit occurred in the eight months of discharge between November 1, 1998 and December 31, 1999.  High concentrations of zinc can be acutely toxic to aquatic organisms.  This is reflected in the fact that the Basin Plan water quality objectives (Table 3-3 and 3-4) for zinc for chronic and acute values (58 μg/L and 170 μg/L, respectively) are listed under the 24-hour average, rather than the 4-day average, for chronic and instantaneous maximum, rather than the 1-hour average for acute. The Basin Plan’s Table 4-3 lists effluent limitations for selected toxic pollutants discharged to surface waters.  The limit for shallow water discharges is 58 μg/L.   





Chlorine


Seven (7) chlorine residual violations occurred between January and April 1999.  The acutely toxic effects of chlorine residuals to aquatic organisms have also been well established.  Studies of toxic effects of a pollutant usually distinguish between acute and chronic toxicity.  Acute toxicity refers to the death of a test organism after a relatively short toxicant exposure time while chronic toxicity refers to lethal or sublethal effects due to long-term toxicant exposure.  The article entitled “Site-specific evaluation of power plant chlorination”, by Mattice and Zittel, Journal WPCF  (Vol. 48, No. 10), dated October 1976, contains dose duration curves for marine (saltwater) and freshwater species as indicators of both acute and chronic toxicity.  The duration curves reveal that exposure to as little as 0.1 mg/l of chlorine residual can result in acute toxicity for marine, estuarine or freshwater species.  





pH


Mathematically, pH is defined as the negative logarithm of the hydrogen ion concentration in a water sample.  Due to the logarithmic nature of pH, the measured value of 5.9 on February 1, 2000 represents a hydrogen ion concentration that is about four times greater than the permitted value of 6.5.  Since discharges to Schell Slough from the Sonoma wastewater treatment plant receive little dilution, the excess chlorine residuals and the pH violations may have posed a significant risk to the aquatic biota of Schell Slough.  The number of pH violations has decreased from twelve (12) during the eight months of discharge between November 1998 and December 1999 to two (2) during the 7 months of 2000. However, the compliance monitoring results show that the effluent is typically running at the low end of the 6.5 to 8.5 limit due to one or more of the following reasons: (1) low alkalinity of the source water, (2) over feeding of sulfur dioxide, and/or (3) aeration in the extended aeration basins.





Coliform


The coliform violations caused some beneficial use impairment since coliform is primarily a human water contact recreation problem and Sonoma Creek and San Pablo Bay both include designations for REC-1 (water contact recreation) and REC-2 (non-contact water recreation) beneficial uses.  Although Schell Slough is not listed in the Basin Plan’s Table 2-6 and is fairly remote and inaccessible for water contact recreational use, it is located between Sonoma Creek and San Pablo Bay and water quality violations could affect beneficial uses.  Twenty-seven (27) coliform violations occurred in the eight months of discharge between November 1998 and December 1999 (five (5) occurred in the 7 months between January 1, 2000 and December 31, 2000).  





Sewer System Overflows


The sewer system overflows totaling 356,000 gallons on February 6 through 9, 1999 were very considerable in size.  Although these overflows were related to heavy rainfall induced inflow and infiltration, the cumulative water quality impacts on Sonoma, Agua Caliente, and Fryer Creeks, as well as others, are significant.   Sewer overflows can cause exceedances of water quality objectives, particularly for pathogens, oxygen-demanding pollutants, suspended and settleable solids, nutrients, toxics, and floatable matter.  The beneficial uses that are adversely impacted by sewer overflows are shell-fish harvesting, water contact recreation, and non-contact water recreation.  There is potential for contact with contaminated water in the areas where sewer overflows occurred.  The Board sent a Notice of Violation on April 29, 1999 that required increased measures to control the District’s sewer system overflows.  These measures included a comprehensive rehabilitation of the sewer system to reduce infiltration and inflow of water, and construction of relief sewers parallel to, or as replacements of, existing trunk sewers, thus making it possible to convey peak flows to the treatment facilities.  The District has completed Phase II of a three-phase Sewer System Overflow Prevention Study.  Phase III will include a capital improvement plan and is due to the Regional Board on December 1, 2001.





3.	Degree of Culpability





The Discharger is responsible at all times for ensuring proper operation and maintenance of the treatment plant and collection system and for meeting the purpose and intent of the NPDES permit requirements for discharge.  It appears that most of the violations noted in this analysis could have been avoided with more timely facility upgrades, plant optimization, more aggressive pollution prevention and pretreatment programs, and greater oversight of plant operations and maintenance through staff training.  Although the Discharger has made a number of capital improvements to the plant, such as two new clarifiers and a new chlorine contact tank, these improvements should have been implemented sooner.  





Chlorine Residual


Chlorine residual violations occurred in January through April 1999 (2 in January, 2 in February, 2 in March, and 1 in April). Sulfur dioxide dosing for chlorine removal is done manually, which is prone to operator error.  Automated technology has been available for several years and the manual controls should have been replaced sooner.  The Discharger violated the 0.0 mg/L chlorine residual limit seven (7) times between January and April 1999.  The Discharger stated in its 1999 Annual Report that the District “will complete the installation of flow paced and residual trimmed dechlorination control” … and are “researching chlorine and sulfite analyzers in an effort to identify and install the best available technology for solving this problem”.   An automatic dosing system is scheduled to be implemented when the filters are added to the treatment process, which is expected within the next one to 1½ years.  The plant released about 335,000 gallons of water with chlorine residuals of 0.1 to 1.5 mg/l between January and May 2000.  This ACL evaluates the Discharger’s economic benefit from delaying the installation of this automated dechlorination system.








Zinc


The Discharger has not determined the cause for the zinc violations, which began in late 1998 and increased in 2000.  However, the high zinc in the influent as well as effluent, especially when compared to other dischargers with the same source water, appears to point to unidentified sources within the community, either from industry, commercial or residential sources.  The Discharger has received a separate ACL/MMP for year 2000 violations.  





pH


Violations of pH occurred throughout the time period of this Complaint (3 in November 1998, 3 in December 1998, one each in January and February 1999, and 4 in November 1999).  The Discharger’s low pH is probably the result of overfeeding with sulfur dioxide to prevent continued chlorine residuals.  These violations, however, have also been explained to be a result of the fine-bubble diffusers in the extended aeration system increasing the levels of carbon dioxide and consequently bicarbonate in the water.  The Plant operates routinely on the lower end of its pH limit of 6.5 to 8.5.  Therefore, automatic feed equipment is a high necessity and should have been installed several years ago. 





Coliform, Settleable Solids, and Oil and Grease


A majority of the coliform violations occurred in November 1998: 20 of the total 27 violations occurred in that month.    The four settleable solids violations also occurred in November 1998.  These violations were a result of the old secondary rectangular clarifiers sloughing accumulated solids from the skimmer.  In November 1999, the first new circular clarifier replaced these clarifiers.  As stated earlier in this document, the 28 days of violations for the monthly average oil and grease limit was from a single monthly sample on February 3, 1999.  Under USEPA guidance in determining violations for monthly average limits, each day in the month is counted as a violation. The discharger had the opportunity to resample and did not do so.  





4.	History of Violations and Enforcement





The Discharger has been subject to previous enforcement by the Regional Board for violations of its prior permit.  The Regional Board imposed an Administrative Civil Liability (ACL) in the amount of $83,000 against the Discharger on February 9, 1998, for 242 violations of effluent limitations and 738,000 gallons of collection system (sewer) overflows from January 1994 through July 1997.  The effluent limit violations consisted primarily of exceeding coliform limits (31%) and settleable solids limits (24%).  Other violations during the 3.5 year period included exceeding limits for copper, chlorinated pesticides and PAHs, chlorine residual, oil and grease, pH, mercury, TSS, arsenic, and lead.  





These violations were due, in part, to deferred maintenance and replacement by the previous operating authority, the Public Works Department.  After the Sonoma County Board of Supervisors transferred operating authority to the Sonoma County Water Agency (Agency) on January 1, 1995, the Agency developed a capital replacement program requiring $40-$50 million dollars over a ten year period, of which $30 million was designated for collection system replacement and rehabilitation.  The 10-year capital improvement plan included replacement of the chlorine contact chamber, secondary clarifiers, extended aeration system, chlorination/dechlorination equipment, and monitoring and control equipment. The plan also included expanding effluent storage and reclamation reservoirs.  The new chlorine contact tank was put into service in February 1999.  As stated earlier, the first of three circular clarifiers was put into service in November 1999.  The Discharger has had numerous problems with the aeration system in the extended air activated sludge secondary treatment process.  





Regional Board staff sent the Discharger a Notice of Violation (NOV) letter on April 29, 1999 for violations of their NPDES permit related to collection system overflows totaling 355,680 gallons during the month of February 1999 (Table 2).  Pursuant to Section 13267 of the California Water Code, the Discharger was required to conduct a sewer system overflow prevention study which included the feasibility of eliminating overflows up to a certain storm event (1, 5 or 20 year storm event).  During the period covered by this Complaint, November 1, 1998 through December 31, 1999, the Discharger reported nine (9) overflows of significant volume (greater than 1,000 gallons).  These overflows are listed in Table 2.  This Complaint includes all of the overflow incidents, which total 370,500 gallons of untreated wastewater.  The sewer system overflow prevention study is scheduled to be complete December 2001.





5.	Other Factors Justice May Require 





The Discharger’s increasing number of customers (hook-ups), while the plant is within 92-98% of their current dry weather capacity, is another consideration that needs to be taken into account.  The Discharger currently has a dry weather treatment capacity limit of 3.0 million gallons per day (MGD).  The average of three dry summer months (July through September) daily flow for 1998, 1999, and 2000 were 2.94, 2.75, and 2.85 MGD, respectively.  Although the Discharger has increased their wet weather capacity from 8 to 12 MGD with new secondary clarifiers, their dry weather capacity has not been adequately addressed from an anti-degradation standpoint.





6.	Administrative Civil Liability 





Considering all of the factors above, an administrative penalty of $100,500 is recommended in this Complaint.  This amount was determined by a sum of $1,000 for each of the 82 violations between November 1, 1998 and December 31, 1999 ($82,000) and approximately five cents per gallon of overflows for the 370,500 gallons in excess of 1,000 gallons that occurred between November 1, 1998 and December 31, 1999  ($18,500).  The $82,000 for effluent limit violations and $18,500 for sewer system overflows total $100,500.





7.	Economic Benefit 





The Discharger has realized substantial economic benefits from postponing measures that would have prevented the violations at issue in this Complaint.  The violations in Table 1 and 2 probably could have been avoided or reduced in frequency if the Discharger had replaced and/or upgraded its equipment in a more timely fashion, improved plant maintenance and operations, and provided better training to its operators and technicians.  The Discharger’s economic savings amounts to the interest or investment income earned from capital that would have otherwise been spent on plant improvements necessary for compliance with its NPDES permit. To estimate economic benefits to the District from these violations, Board staff used the USEPA’s Benefits (BEN) model, data supplied by the District and judgment based on similar facilities when District data was in doubt or unavailable.





For violations that occurred before January 1, 2000, the Regional Board is authorized, but not required, to recover any economic benefit the Discharger derived from the acts that constituted violations.  Regional Board staff estimated the economic benefit gained by the Discharger from postponing measures that would have prevented the violations prior to January 1, 2000 to be $82,900.  This assessment comes from the following four factors:





Postponement of a source reduction program for zinc, which should have been implemented beginning in October 1994 when the Discharger’s effluent zinc concentration was as high as 170 μg/L, but at least by no later than the permit reissuance date, October 21, 1998, ($12,000). Dates used in BEN model: November 1, 1998 through December 31, 1999. 


Postponement of a treatment plant optimization program that began in October 2000, but should have been initiated in January 1995 when the Sonoma County Water Agency became the operating authority for the plant ($2,600). Dates used in model: March 1, 1998 (after the last ACL) through December 31, 1999. Effect of postponement: decreased efficiency and increases in overall number of violations.


Postponement of an inflow and infiltration reduction study and capital improvement project for the Discharger’s collection system, which should have begun February 1998, when the Discharger received an ACL partly for its collection system overflows, but instead began in June 1999 in response to the Regional Board’s Notice of Violation and request for report pursuant to Section 13267 ($31,100).  The economic benefit was based on that total cost estimated to complete work on the collection system minus what had been spent as of January 1, 2000. Dates used in model: March 1, 1998 through December 31,1999. Effect of postponement: continued sewer system overflows.


Postponement of replacing the manual SO2 dose feed to an automated dechlorination control system and replacing step-feed chlorine dosage to a chlorine demand-compound loop system ($37,200). Dates used in model: March 1, 1998 through December 31, 1999. Effect of not installing this equipment: increased number of coliform, pH and chlorine residual violations.





The cost savings gained by the Discharger from not implementing a source reduction program for zinc when the permit was reissued with a lower limit of 58 μg/L (previously 86 μg/L) was estimated by the interest on the source reduction program that should have been initiated in November 1998.  Staff used USEPA’s BENEFITS (BEN) model to calculate the economic benefit gained by the Discharger by using the cost of a source reduction program for a similar metal, such as copper.  For comparison purposes, the cost of determining pollutant sources and developing a pollution prevention plan for copper, which was required by the 1998 NPDES permit, was approximately $34,000.  The ongoing costs of implementing the pollution prevention plan are estimated at $8,000 per year.  The economic benefit gained by the end of 1999 for not developing and implementing a pollution prevention plan for zinc in 1998 is estimated at $12,000 using USEPA’s BEN model.  





The cost of conducting a plant optimization study was approximately $30,000 and should have been done when Sonoma County Water Agency first took over operations of the District’s plant in 1995.  However, because the District received an ACL in February of 1998, the assessment of this factor is based on March 1, 1998.  The benefit gained for not conducting a plant optimization study beginning in March 1, 1998 was estimated at $2,600 using USEPA’s BEN model. Compliance date used in model was December 31, 1999.  





The third economic savings component is the postponement of an inflow and infiltration study and capital improvement project specifically targeted to improve the collection system and prevent sewer system overflows. It is estimated that $800,000 in economic benefit was derived based upon estimates from a project at a similar-size community that has recently undergone upgrades to their collection system.  The total cost for the similar community with its 120 miles of collection pipes was $12,800,000.  The Inflow/Infiltration Correction Program study was $456,000.  By comparison, the Discharger’s collection system has 76 miles of collection system pipeline, which is 63.3% of the example community.  Therefore, the capital improvement costs for the Discharger’s collection system are estimated to cost approximately $8.1 million and the one-time non-depreciable cost for the study would be approximately $290,000.  Since the Discharger spent $3.369 million on collection system improvements between 1995 and 1996, Regional Board staff subtracted this amount from the $8.1 million, then divided the result ($4,731,000) by ten to account for the allowance of spending this over a 10 year period.  This amount ($473,100) was then used in the USEPA’s BEN model to determine economic benefit for not having implemented the study earlier than the Discharger did.  The Discharger should have started the study when they received the ACL on February 18, 1998, but instead began the sewer system work in June 1999 after receiving the Board’s Notice of Violation.  The noncompliance and compliance dates used in the analysis were March 1, 1998 and December 31, 1999, respectively, for economic benefit.  The economic savings gained from this factor is $31,100. 





The fourth component to the economic benefit is the lack of automatic chlorination and dechlorination. Automated feed systems for chlorination and dechlorination, which has been available and has been installed in most other plants for many years, would reduce the number of coliform and chlorine residual violations and, in the long run, probably save the District money by reducing the quantity of chemicals used. A chlorine demand-compound loop and automated dechlorination control systems have been available and should have been installed several years ago.  The estimated costs for the equipment and installation were $290,000.  The noncompliance and compliance dates used in the analysis were March 1, 1998 through December 31, 1999, respectively.  The economic savings gained by the end of 1999 from this factor is 37,200.





Thus, the total economic benefit gained by the Discharger prior to January 1, 2000 by postponing programs for source reduction control, treatment plant optimization, and inflow/infiltration reduction, and postponing installation of an automated chlorination/dechlorination is $82,900.  





8.	Staff Costs





Regional Board staff time to investigate the violations and prepare the Complaint and Staff Report totaled 10 hours, at an average cost to the State of $100 per hour.  Thus, the total staff cost for this enforcement action is $5,000. 





9.	Ability to Pay





A review of Sonoma County Water Agency’s financial statement regarding the Sonoma treatment plant indicates that gross revenue sources during 1999 were $5.8 million.  Gross revenues for 2000 are expected to exceed those of 1999 by $232,330.   Considering the accompanying ACL/MMP for post-January 1, 2000 violations, the total sum of this recommended penalty, $188,400, is most likely outside the range of the Discharger’s ability to pay without significant impact on its ability to conduct its responsibilities.  Therefore, a reduction in the total fine by the amount assessed from “factors to be considered” (the nature, circumstances, extent and gravity of the violations, degree of culpability, and prior history of violations) is recommended, thus reducing the fine from $188,400 to $87,900.  The sum of the fine is, therefore, the sum of the economic benefit, $82,900 (sum of $12,000, $2,600, $31,100 and $37,200), and staff costs, $5,000.  The total recommended penalty is $87,900. The proposed monetary penalty of $87,900 is within the Discharger’s ability to without significant impact on its ability to conduct its responsibilities.  





The table below itemizes both the initial and proposed fines within each penalty category.





Penalty Category�
Initial Findings�
Reduction�
Final Findings�
�
Economic Benefit (discretionary)�
�
�
�
�
     1) Source Reduction �
$  12,000�
$  12,000�
�
�
     2) Plant Optimization�
$    2,600�
$    1,700�
�
�
     3) Inflow/Infiltration Collection System�
$31,100�
$ 31,100�
�
�
     4) Chlorination/Dechlorination Automation�
$    37,200�
$    37,200�
�
�
Economic Benefit Sum�
$82,900�
$82,900�
$82,900�
�
Administrative Penalty (discretionary)�
�
�
�
�
     1) Effluent limit violations ($1,000/ violation)�
$ 82,000�
$ 0�
�
�
     2) Sewer system overflows ($0.05/ gallon)�
$ 18,500�
$ 0�
�
�
Administrative Penalty Sum�
$ 100,500�
$ 0�
$ 0�
�
Staff Costs�
$  5,000�
$  5,000�
$  5,000�
�
Total�
$188,400�
-$100,500�
$87,900�
�



10.	Maximum Penalty 





The California Water Code provides several enforcement remedies for discharges in violation of Board-issued NPDES permits:


Impose Administrative Civil Liability pursuant to Section 13385


Refer to the Attorney General to have a superior court impose civil liability pursuant to Section 13385


Section 13385 sets a maximum liability of $10,000/day and $10/gallon for the discharge volume that is not cleaned up, or is not susceptible to cleanup, and that exceeds 1,000 gallons.  If this matter is referred to the Attorney General, a liability of $25,000/day and $25/gallon can be imposed.  





RECOMMENDATIONS





In consideration of the facts in this case and prior Board actions, I recommend that the maximum liability be reduced to account for the Discharger’s efforts to upgrade the treatment facility and their responsiveness with regard to our requests for information.  The recommended civil liability is $87,900 against Sonoma Valley County Sanitation District for its 91 NPDES permit violations, and 373.3 million gallons of inadequately treated wastewater from November 1998 through December 1999.  The proposed liability recovers economic benefits of $82,900 and $5,000 in staff costs to prepare the Complaint and staff report.  





On June 20, 2001, the District sent payment of $5,000 for staff costs to the State Water Resources Control Board.  The District has submitted a proposal for a source-identification and reduction study for zinc and a supplemental environmental project (SEP) in lieu of the remaining portion of the fine, $82,900.  With funding from the District via this Complaint, the North Bay Watershed Association will perform a region-wide water recycling feasibility study.  Board staff recommends that $82,900 be suspended pending completion of these proposed projects.





� Significant sewer overflows refer to overflows greater than 1000 gallons.
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The energy challenge facing California is real.  Every Californian needs to take immediate action to reduce energy consumption.  For a list of simple ways you can reduce demand and cut your energy costs, see our Web-site at http://www.swrcb.ca.gov.











